Heart policy and practice in Europe

The Heart Failure Policy Network is an independent, multidisciplinary platform made possible with financial support from Novartis Pharma, AstraZeneca and Vifor Pharma. The content produced by the Network is not biased to any specific treatment or therapy. All outputs are guided and endorsed by the Network's members. All members provide their time for free.



The Heart Failure Policy Network



November 2020

About the Heart Failure Policy Network

The Heart Failure Policy Network (HFPN) is an independent, multidisciplinary network of healthcare professionals, advocacy groups, policymakers and other stakeholders from across Europe. HFPN was established in 2015 with the goal of raising awareness of unmet needs and seeking meaningful improvements in heart failure policy and care. To view our work so far, please visit: www.hfpolicynetwork.org/

All members of the HFPN provide their time for free. All Network content is non-promotional and non-commercial. The Secretariat is provided by The Health Policy Partnership Ltd, an independent health policy consultancy based in London, UK.

About this report

Heart failure policy and practice in Europe aims to equip national advocates across Europe with a clear picture of central leadership and overall performance in terms of major pillars of health services, treatment and care. It provides a comprehensive analysis of national policy issues in heart failure, key gaps and examples of best practice investigated in 11 European countries.

Research, coordination, drafting, expert interviews and member consultations were led by Sara C Marques, Ed Harding, Marissa Mes and Stephanie Whelan, with research assistance from Emily Kell and Shannon Boldon and administrative support from Rhiannon Lavin and Victoria Paxton. The report was edited by Madeleine Murphy and Kasia Trojanowska, and designed by Catarina Correia Marques.

Please cite this report as: Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. *Heart failure policy and practice in Europe*. London: HFPN

Acknowledgements

The HFPN would like to thank the members of the Project Advisory Group for their continued input throughout the development of the report:

Josep Comín-Colet, Cardiologist; Director of Cardiology, University Hospital Bellvitge; Director, South Metropolitan Barcelona Integrated Heart Failure Programme and Cardiovascular Disease Research Group, IDIBELL

Salvatore Di Somma, Internist and Cardiologist; Professor of Medicine, University of Rome La Sapienza; President of Scientific Committee, Italian Association of Patients with Heart Failure (AISC)

Andrzej Gackowski, Cardiologist; Head of the Non-invasive Cardiovascular Laboratory, John Paul II Hospital, Kraków; Past President, HF Working Group of the Polish Cardiac Society

Pascal Garel, Chief Executive, European Hospital and Healthcare Federation (HOPE)

José Ramón González Juanatey,

Cardiologist; Professor of Cardiology and Director, Cardiology and Intensive Care Department, University Hospital Santiago de Compostela; former President, Spanish Society of Cardiology

Neil Johnson, Chief Executive, Croí, West of Ireland Cardiac Foundation; President, Global Heart Hub

Elizabeth Killeen, Heart Failure Specialist Nurse, Community Healthcare West, Galway **Ekaterini Lambrinou**, Cardiology and Gerontology Specialist Nurse; Associate Professor, Cyprus University of Technology; Past Chair, European Society of Cardiology Association of Cardiovascular Nursing and Allied Professions

Steven Macari, Founder and President, Association Vie Et Cœur (AVEC)

Sandra Mulrennan, Heart Failure Specialist Nurse; St Bartholomew's Hospital Heart Failure Service, Barts Health NHS Trust, London

Joana Pimenta, Internist; Invited Assistant Professor, University of Porto; Deputy Coordinator, Heart Failure Working Group of the Portuguese Society of Internal Medicine

Anne-Catherine Pouleur, Cardiologist; Head of Cardiology, Clinique universitaires Saint-Luc; President, Belgian Working Group on Heart Failure and Cardiac Function

José Silva-Cardoso, Cardiologist; Associate Professor, University of Porto; Coordinator, Heart Failure Working Group of the Portuguese Society of Cardiology

Bert Vaes, General Practitioner; Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health and Primary Care, KU Leuven

We would also like to thank the many national experts who provided insights as to the heart failure context in their respective countries. For a full list of experts who supported this project, please see www.hfpolicynetwork.org/project/heart-failure-policy-and-practice-in-europe/ 4 // Heart failure policy and practice in Europe

Contents

Foreword	7
Executive summary	8
What is heart failure?	11
The case for change	12
Heart failure policy and practice indicators	16
Heart failure policy across Europe	18
Formal plans on HF	18
Investment in integrated HF models and facilitative tools	20
Development of the HF healthcare workforce	23
Guidance and local care pathways for delivery of quality care	24
Registries, audits and high-level assessment initiatives	29
Heart failure practice across Europe	31
Diagnosis	31
Hospital care and discharge	32
Key components of quality care in community settings	33
Tools and methods to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing HF care	35
The way forward	38
References	40

The following organisations endorse this work:



Foreword

Since its inception in 2015, the Heart Failure Policy Network has sought to defeat political inertia in heart failure (HF). Winning this battle is more a political challenge than a scientific one. Best practice in HF care is well established, yet routine and tragic gaps persist for even basic components of care, contributing to a high rate of hospitalisations and mortality.

What is at stake is no less than millions of lives and billions of euros in healthcare costs that could be better invested in crisis prevention, rather than recovery. Current trends demonstrate clearly that our healthcare systems must master the prevention and community-based management of major conditions such as HF as a matter of urgency in order to avoid extreme pressures. To achieve this, a whole-system vision for HF will be needed over the long term to ensure that decision-makers set suitably ambitious goals and uphold commitments to invest in proven models of care.

Yet despite the fact that one in five of us can expect to develop HF at some point in our lives, HF advocates across Europe face persistent barriers in mounting political engagement efforts. These include fatalism and misunderstanding of what HF is, a lack of consensus as to national priorities for HF policy and practice, and a historical lack of scrutiny and accountability.

Heart failure policy and practice in Europe seeks to challenge these barriers in greater national specificity than ever before. It provides an evidence-based, consensus-driven tool to help advocates demand at least an answer from national leaders, and ideally an offer of partnership.

While the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to require significant political attention, governments must remember that HF remains a leading cause of hospital admissions in Europe. This has been the case for many years and will continue long after COVID-19 has been contained.

Much has changed in the five years since we started our Network. We have seen that policymakers will listen to evidence and value-based arguments, especially when stakeholders work together. This must inspire us all to accelerate our efforts.

Help us to take the case for change to in HF governments across Europe.

- Heart Failure Policy Network Secretariat

Executive summary



people in Europe are estimated to be living with heart failure¹²

Heart failure is a major cause of hospitalisations and contributes to almost



<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header>

Heart failure (HF) is a common syndrome and its prevalence is growing.

More than 15 million people in Europe, or around 2% of the population, are estimated to be living with HF¹² These numbers are predicted to rise significantly, due to ageing of the population and increased survival rates of other cardiovascular conditions.^{5 9 10}

This trend seems certain to be accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Heart damage arising from COVID-19 infection is predicted to increase the number of HF cases.¹¹ The pandemic has also caused widespread disruption to existing HF services, stalling crucial efforts to prevent HF or delay its progression.¹²⁻¹⁴

Despite the far-reaching impact of HF, governments have been slow to recognise its significance. Of the 11 European countries included in this work, most lack a dedicated strategy on HF, and where plans are available, they are often out of date or underfunded. Existing cardiovascular or non-communicable disease policy initiatives commonly neglect HF, despite it falling into their scope.¹⁵⁻¹⁸

Few governments fully understand what is needed to address HF. Formal registries and audits of HF care are lacking, meaning that poor performance and unwarranted variations often continue unchallenged, obstructing best-value investments to reduce avoidable deaths, disability and costs.

Years of underinvestment in HF have left us unprepared for future

pressures. Integrated HF care pathways, disease management models and key diagnostics are often unavailable, and information technology (IT) systems and telemedicine platforms are often lacking or unfit for purpose.

Our healthcare workforce is largely unprepared for HF. Specialist-led care is crucial to improving outcomes in HF,^{19 20} but many countries face major shortfalls in HF specialist roles. Few European countries formally accredit HF specialism, holding back the long-term growth of these roles.

Most notably, primary and community care settings are ill-equipped to provide effective long-term management of HF. Across Europe, crucial gaps include use of medications, cardiac rehabilitation, self-care education, psychological support and palliative care.² Typical barriers include underfunding, poor continuity of care and limited access to HF specialists.²²¹⁻²³

These deficits come at a significant cost. Many people with HF are not treated until irreversible cardiac damage has occurred.²⁴ Hospital readmissions are common, despite a large number being considered avoidable.^{25 26} Millions of patients live with a huge burden of symptoms – both mental and physical – that could be significantly alleviated.

Innovative care models are too slow to take hold. Many programmes have demonstrated the value of multidisciplinary HF care to reduce costs and improve outcomes,^{7 8 27-29} but are often limited to a few centres of excellence. Encouragingly, the COVID-19 pandemic has increased the use of telemedicine,^{12 13 30} and these models require expansion.

There are many opportunities to prevent HF and slow the progression of

the syndrome. Guideline-based care is proven to save lives, improve quality of life and keep people with HF out of hospital.²⁰ With the right support, people with HF can manage their condition, return to work and continue to enjoy productive lives.

Decision-makers must now acknowledge and address HF in all its

dimensions. High-level strategies and plans should commit to deliver on clear goals to reduce avoidable hospitalisations and improve outcomes in HF. With this goal in mind, we propose five actions to which governments across Europe must now commit.



It is crucial to understand that, regardless of country, failing to implement an effective system of care and management of HF will test the limits of our healthcare systems as well as social and economic sustainability.

What is heart failure?

Heart failure is a common and complex syndrome

Heart failure (HF) occurs when the heart becomes too weak or stiff to pump enough blood to meet the body's needs.²⁰ Symptoms vary depending on a person's age, weight and additional health conditions (comorbidities). Typically, they include breathlessness, extreme fatigue, reduced capacity to exercise and retention of fluids, which may present as rapid weight gain or swelling in the lower limbs and abdomen, and in severe cases as fluid in the lungs (pulmonary oedema).²⁰ HF symptoms can develop gradually and slowly (chronic or slow-onset HF) or suddenly and rapidly (acute HF), the latter often as a result of exacerbation of chronic HF and requiring immediate medical attention.^{20 31}

Current clinical guidelines differentiate between three types of HF based on left ventricular ejection fraction, which is the proportion of blood in the heart that is pumped with each heartbeat from the left ventricle to the rest of the body: HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), HF with mid-range ejection fraction (HFmEF), and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF).²⁰ HFrEF is the better-known type of HF, while the two other types are less well understood.^{20 32}

Risk factors for HF include underlying health conditions and lifestyle behaviours

There are several risk factors for HF, ranging from other conditions or diseases to lifestyle behaviours. HF can be preceded by coronary artery disease, high blood pressure (hypertension), heart attack (myocardial infarction), diabetes, high cholesterol (hyperlipidaemia) and obesity,²⁰ all of which are growing contributors to the rising prevalence of HF in Europe. An inactive lifestyle, unhealthy diet, excessive alcohol consumption or smoking can also increase the risk of developing HF.

HF is often associated with comorbidities – three in four people with HF have at least one other illness,³³ and almost half of those diagnosed with HFpEF have at least five.^{34 35} Comorbidities may aggravate HF and create additional challenges to clinical management,²⁰ as well as having a negative impact on quality of life.

• SEE

The handbook of multidisciplinary and integrated heart failure care²

• SEE

Spotlight on HFpEF: heart failure with preserved ejection fraction³²

SEE Understanding HF guidelines³⁶

The case for change

HF is a fundamental concern for the long-term sustainability of healthcare systems

The number of people living with HF is high and growing. More than 15 million people are estimated to be living with HF in Europe,¹² a figure that represents around 2% of the population.²⁰ One in five people can expect to be diagnosed with HF at some point in their lives.³⁷ HF disproportionately affects older people, with more than 80% of cases in people aged 65 and older.⁹ Ageing populations and improved survival rates for cardiovascular and other long-term conditions are predicted to contribute to an increase in the prevalence of HF.^{5 9 10} In Europe, the population aged 65



and over is projected to grow by almost 50% in the next 30 years,³⁸ which suggests that the number of people living with HF will continue to rise.²⁶

HF is a major driver of hospitalisations and mortality



Increase in hospitalisations

People living with HF are at high risk of hospitalisation, which becomes more frequent and lengthy in later stages of the syndrome.⁹ HF has been reported as the most common cause of hospital admissions in people over the age of 65 and a leading cause of all hospital admissions for all age groups.³⁶ In 2015, there were 1.7 million hospital admissions for HF in the European Union (EU) alone, with a mean duration of 9.5 days.³ HF-related rehospitalisation is common in the first months after discharge; this is a period of high vulnerability⁶ and, therefore, a missed opportunity in terms of improving care and reducing the burden of HF.

Despite improvements in treatment options and care in the past two decades, mortality from HF remains high.^{39 40} In many European countries, mortality from HF is higher than from several common cancers.^{41 42}

The right package of care can improve outcomes

HF has been identified as a major source of preventable hospitalisation in the EU, alongside diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma.^{3 43} But proven models of care have realised significant reductions in hospitalisations for HF.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ A large proportion of morbidity, mortality and healthcare costs from HF can be avoided if integrated, multidisciplinary models are followed. Care should involve health and social care professionals to ensure a seamless transition between hospital and community settings, as well as person-centred approaches.^{2 19 20}



Best-practice care can reduce hospitalisations

The challenge in addressing HF is not lack of best-practice models or proof of their impact, but rather one of their wider implementation. Several models implemented locally have demonstrated positive impact by reducing the number and length of hospitalisations and improving patient outcomes, but these have not been rolled out at scale.²

The COVID-19 pandemic is likely to accelerate the growth of the HF population

The COVID-19 pandemic is known to be driving the emergence of new cases of cardiovascular disease and the exacerbation of existing conditions, including HF.^{13 47-51} This is due both to the infection and the symptoms it causes, and to service disruptions from the pandemic, which have created a backlog of missed or delayed diagnoses and care.^{13 30 52-58} Combined, these factors are likely to create a significant growth in demand for HF services, driven by new cases of HF as well as deterioration in those previously diagnosed.^{12 14}

HF changes lives forever – it has a significant impact on people and their families

HF can be devastating. People living with HF describe the diagnosis as a life-changing event for themselves and their families, requiring complete physical and psychological readjustment to manage the syndrome.^{59 60} Diagnosis is often preceded by a period of uncertainty as people try to navigate their lives with symptoms such as breathlessness and extreme fatigue.⁶¹

Symptoms of HF may limit a person's ability to work, travel and socialise, and consequently lead to a significant reduction of quality of life.⁶² This may affect the person's mental health – in fact, depression has been suggested to affect around one in five people with HF.⁶³ This is significant, as depression is linked to decreased self-care behaviours and increased hospitalisation and mortality.^{20 63} The impact of HF on mental health extends to the person's family and carers, who may themselves experience social isolation, loneliness and limitations in daily life.⁶⁴

HF has a considerable economic impact on healthcare systems

In high-income countries, HF typically accounts for 1–2% of total health expenditure.⁴⁶ This is particularly significant considering that all types of cancer combined are estimated to account for around 6% of total health expenditure in Europe.⁶⁵ In 2012, the national cost of HF was estimated to have surpassed USD \$4.5 billion (approximately €3.5 billion) in Germany, France and the UK, and to be more than USD \$1 billion (approximately €781 million) in Italy, Spain and Belgium.⁴



of health expenditure

Most of the direct costs linked to HF are attributable to frequent and lengthy hospitalisations.⁴⁹

In 2012, the combined cost of HF healthcare services in Belgium, Denmark, England, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal and Spain amounted to more than €15 billion.⁴

HF is a major factor in societal costs and workforce productivity



Many people may not return to work The economic impact of HF is compounded by significant indirect costs, mostly owing to the demands on partners or other family members to provide care.^{64 66} Indirect costs also relate to lost productivity of people living with HF, and use of sickness benefits or welfare schemes.⁶⁷ For example, in Denmark, data from 1997 to 2012 show that one in four people living with HF did not return to work in the year following their first hospitalisation for HF.⁶⁸

In some European countries, indirect costs of HF are estimated to outweigh direct costs.⁶⁴ In Ireland, for example, informal care is the largest cost component of HF expenditure, estimated at €364 million in 2012.⁶⁶ In Spain, 37% of people living with HF require informal care, with an estimated annual cost of up to €12,870 per person.⁶⁹

The risks associated with HF reflect existing health inequalities

While trends appear to vary between countries, people at a socioeconomic disadvantage (for example, those with lower income and educational attainment) may experience higher risk of HF and HF-related hospitalisation, or have higher mortality and poorer outcomes overall.⁷⁰⁻⁷² For example, in people facing socioeconomic disadvantages HF has been shown to occur as much as 3.5 years earlier than in people with a higher socioeconomic status.⁷³



Heart failure policy and practice indicators

This study analyses HF policy and practice in 11 European countries. It began with the development of a list of elements for consideration in each country: the HF policy and practice indicators (*Table 1*). The indicators are not intended as a quantitative checklist or scorecard for HF policy and care, or as quality indicators for clinical practice or research. Rather, they served as an internal framework to guide the development of this work.

The indicators fall into two domains: policy indicators are those that focus on the status and comprehensiveness of HF policies and guidance, while practice indicators aim to capture the reality of clinical practice.

	Formal plans on HF
Policy	Investment in integrated HF models and facilitative tools
	Development of the HF healthcare workforce
	Guidance and local care pathways for delivery of quality care
	Registries, audits and high-level assessment initiatives
Practice	Diagnosis
	Hospital care and discharge
	Key components of quality care in community settings
	Tools and methods to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing HF care

TABLE 1. Heart failure policy and practice indicators

HF: heart failure

Note: The HF policy and practice indicators were used to guide desk research and analysis for this report and are not intended to be used as quality indicators for clinical practice or research. As each country has its own set of obstacles to overcome, this overarching report is accompanied by 11 country profiles that explore the reality in each country: Belgium, Denmark, England, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal and Spain.



Heart failure policy across Europe

Formal plans on HF

Why it matters

Formal HF plans create political accountability and vision, and provide a blueprint to address the challenge

HF-specific policies or formal plans should seek to enable the system-wide implementation of best practice. This may involve addressing barriers to the reorganisation of care and investing in the establishment of HF specialist settings and services. Governments should also clarify optimal system function across the diagnostic and care pathway, including interactions between settings and involvement of primary care.²

Strategies should set clear and measurable goals for success, make available the resources and tools healthcare professionals need to deliver best-practice care, and outline methods to collect, analyse and make use of data.

Awareness of HF is too low, with many countries lacking dedicated strategies

Several countries have no dedicated strategy on HF, and in others the plans may need to be updated, lack funding or may have stalled (*Table 2*).

Recognition of HF is still too low among decision-makers and the wider public. Recent surveys in Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK found a significant lack of understanding of the symptoms and seriousness of HF, among both the public and policymakers.⁷² Very few members of the public understand the scale of mortality in HF and national policymakers show low awareness of HF and its role in driving healthcare demands. Fewer than 15% of national policymakers surveyed recognised HF as the leading cause of avoidable hospitalisations.⁷² These low levels of awareness translate into low prioritisation of HF in long-term national healthcare plans and policies.

TABLE 2. Formal bians on neart failure or relevant guidance on chronic disease manageme	TABLE 2. Form:	d plans on heart failure o	or relevant guidance o	on chronic disease mar	nagement
---	----------------	----------------------------	------------------------	------------------------	----------

Belgium	 No formal plan on HF 2015 national plan on integrated care for chronic diseases published,¹⁸ but lacks focus on HF
Denmark	No formal plan on HF Committee for Heart Diseases established in 2008 ⁷⁵ and Task Force for Cancer and Heart Patients established in 2010, ⁷⁶ but neither has yet focused on HF
England	2019 <i>NHS Long Term Plan</i> includes a ₋ section on HF with commitments to improve diagnosis and management ⁷⁷
France	• No formal plan on HF 2018 strategic vision My Health 2022 states a need to improve management of HF, ⁷⁸ but there is little presence of HF in subsequent strategies
Germany	♥ No formal plan on HF
Greece	♥ No formal plan on HF
Ireland	2012 National Clinical Programme for HF ⁷⁹ has received limited investment
Italy	 No formal plan on HF 2019 strategy Pact for Health⁸⁰ and 2016 National Plan for Chronic Conditions⁸¹ recognise need to address HF
Poland	♥ No formal plan on HF National Programme for the Prevention and Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases 2017–2020 recognised need to address HF ⁸² but received limited investment
Portugal	No formal plan on HF A government-commissioned working group proposed measures to improve the response to HF, ⁸³ but no further action has been taken ⁸⁴
Spain	Ministry of Health announced national strategy on cardiovascular health in 2020, including recommendations for HF®5

Additional information can be found in the country profiles.

Investment in integrated HF models and facilitative tools

Why it matters

Policy and reimbursement frameworks must encourage a shift in the focus of care from acute to outpatient and community settings

Effective management of HF must start with early diagnosis and include ongoing support delivered outside of hospital.^{2 20} For optimal diagnosis, measurement of natriuretic peptide (NP) levels, recommended in clinical guidelines,^{20 86} should be reimbursed in primary care. This low-cost test can rule out HF, saving unnecessary referrals to cardiology services and echocardiography, which is the gold-standard diagnostic test²⁰ but is more expensive and may require longer waiting times.^{87 88}

Complex, long-term care requires data-sharing and communication across all healthcare professionals involved in HF management. Information technology (IT) systems that are applicable to different care settings are therefore essential in multidisciplinary and integrated care.⁹ Platforms that allow the delivery of care remotely can also be important for high-quality ongoing HF care.⁸⁹

• SEE Spotlight on telemedicine in ongoing heart failure care⁸⁹

Inconsistent reimbursement of diagnostic tests and limited investment in technology hinder optimal HF diagnosis and ongoing care

Policies for reimbursement of HF diagnostic tests across Europe force significant deviation from best-practice recommendations. For example, NP testing is not consistently funded across care settings (*Table 3*). NP testing in primary care settings is feasible and recommended by leading clinicians, who have called for it to be implemented in primary care to avoid late HF diagnosis and bottlenecks around access to echocardiography.⁹⁰⁻⁹⁵

	General practitioner, primary care	Specialist physician, outpatient care	Specialist physician, inpatient care
Belgium	Not reimbursed	Not reimbursed	♥ Not reimbursed
Denmark	Not consistently reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
England	Usually reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
France	Reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Germany	Reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Greece	Not reimbursed	Not reimbursed	Reimbursed
Ireland	Not consistently reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Italy	Reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Poland	Not reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Portugal	Sot reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed
Spain	Sot reimbursed	Reimbursed	Reimbursed

TABLE 3. Reimbursement of natriuretic peptide (NP) testing

Additional information and sources can be found in the country profiles.

Some European countries are in more advanced stages of developing collaborative IT systems, including electronic health records, but overall there is a need to invest in IT platforms that collect key HF parameters, share information and enable collaboration and multidisciplinary working (*Table 4*). Where existing platforms are able to link across settings, they may typically collect few clinical parameters relevant to HF and may lack features that promote optimal data-sharing and communication between healthcare professionals and care settings.

TABLE 4. Healthcare information technology systems

Belgium	The government has invested in IT hubs to support information exchange between care settings. ⁹⁶ The HF care team can share discharge information, consultation reports and laboratory test results, but sharing echocardiography footage and medication plans is difficult. ^{94 97}
Denmark	IT systems allow for communication among hospitals but not between hospitals and primary care settings. ⁹⁸
England	The National Health Service has committed to improving IT systems to support multidisciplinary care, but HF-specific investment is lacking. ⁹⁹
France	IT systems differ between healthcare settings. Patients can delete information from electronic health records, which may affect the value of the system. ¹⁰⁰
Germany	IT systems differ between healthcare settings, and medical information is often only accessible to different healthcare professionals when a direct referral is made between care settings. ¹⁰¹
Greece	Electronic health records are being implemented, ¹⁰² but the IT system remains inadequate for communication between settings, which has been reported as a critical barrier to integrated HF care. ¹⁰³
Ireland	There is no standardised IT system in hospitals. The more advanced system in primary care allows for communication between professionals working in those settings. ¹⁰⁴
Italy	The IT system allows for data linkage and promotes communication, but there is a need to collect additional clinical parameters. ¹⁰⁵
Poland	There is no standardised or advanced IT system allowing for communication across care settings. ^{106 107} Experts believe this is under development. ^{95 108}
Portugal	The IT system enables data-sharing, ^{26 109} but additional features are needed to optimise communication between healthcare professionals. ¹¹⁰
Spain	IT systems differ between healthcare settings and do not allow for communication across settings. 111112

HF: heart failure; IT: information technology. Additional information can be found in the country profiles.

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, investment in telemedicine-based models of care for HF had not been a priority across Europe.⁸⁹ The pandemic is widely recognised to have acted as a major catalyst for remote monitoring of HF, generating rapid uptake across whole systems¹⁴ and potentially leading to greater political will for the reimbursement of these care models to continue. While there is great potential in telemedicine models, especially to provide care to people living in rural or remote areas, it is important to consider that telemedicine should be used to supplement, not replace, in-person appointments. It should be part of HF care programmes, tailored to the person's needs and preferences.⁸⁹ ¹¹³ ¹¹⁴

Development of the HF healthcare workforce

Why it matters

Specialist HF skills in the healthcare workforce reduce hospital admissions and improve patient outcomes

HF specialism and improved professional knowledge of HF are crucial for long-term management and positive outcomes.²⁹¹⁹ For example, HF nurse-led programmes have been shown to reduce hospital admissions.¹⁹¹¹⁵ Healthcare systems should thus invest in professional HF training for all healthcare professionals, spanning the entire patient journey.

Formal accreditation of HF specialism allows for consistent and transferable skill sets, certifiable professional development, and incentivisation via enhanced professional status and greater financial reward. Accreditation is crucial to expansion of the specialist workforce.

The development of the HF specialist workforce is being undermined by poor funding and lack of formal accreditation

Several countries are facing a shortfall in key healthcare professionals required for HF care, including specialists and primary care professionals.^{98 106 116-118} This contributes to major pressures on the existing workforce.

Professional education and training programmes are typically offered by national professional societies and may combine online and in-person training.^{119 120} In some countries, HF centres also deliver training.^{84 121}

Among the countries analysed, the HF specialist nurse role is formally accredited only in England, Germany and Ireland (*Table 5*). Potential barriers in other countries include lack of funding, a complex and lengthy national approval process for new healthcare roles, a lack of degree programmes, and limited awareness among decision-makers of the benefits brought about by HF specialist nurses.^{122 123} The Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) has published a proposal for a two-year curriculum for HF specialist nurses to act as a blueprint for training and accreditation programmes.¹²⁴ This is a promising step, and implementation will require the involvement of national professional bodies or unions to formally grant the accreditation.

TABLE 5. Recognition of heart failure specialist nurse role via accreditation

Belgium	⊗ No
Denmark	⊗ No
England	Yes
France	S No
Germany	Yes
Greece	⊗ No
Ireland	Yes
Italy	⊗ No
Poland	⊗ No
Portugal	🛚 No
Spain	S No

Guidance and local care pathways for delivery of quality care

Why it matters

Formal guidance and local care pathways are essential for the effective organisation of care

Clinical guidelines define best practice based on scientific consensus, and guideline-based care is linked to better outcomes for people living with HF.²⁰ It is therefore vital for guideline recommendations to be put into practice, which may be supported by HF pathways and decision-making protocols. These pathways may be either included in national guidelines or produced as standalone documents. Accreditation of HF-specific care settings can also help deliver high-quality HF care.¹²⁵

Most cardiology societies endorse ESC guidelines or create their own, but there are gaps in guidance for primary care

The ESC revises its HF guidelines every five years and, whenever relevant, publishes consensus statements with updates.^{20 31 126 127} Several cardiology societies across Europe have formally endorsed the latest ESC guidelines on HF (2016) as the national standard for HF care, and some countries have their own national guidance (*Table 6*). Professional societies and statutory health agencies sometimes develop guidance on specific aspects of HF care, such as cardiac rehabilitation or palliative care.¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰

HF guidelines typically recommend that HF care be led by cardiologists. However, in some countries, management of HF, particularly acute HF, is often led by internists. There may be a need to standardise clinical involvement in HF care, with experts highlighting the importance of involving both cardiologists and internists.^{84 131-133}

Challenges specific to primary care settings are not typically covered in cardiology guidelines.¹⁰⁴ For this reason, the European Primary Care Cardiovascular Society has developed guidance on the diagnosis and management of HF in primary care,¹³⁴ and some national and regional professional societies have also introduced HF guidance for primary care professionals.¹³⁵⁻¹³⁸

Established guidelines may not always be adopted and followed, for reasons including limited awareness, guideline complexity and lack of national-language versions.¹³⁹ Lack of direct incentives, such as performance assessment linked to guideline-based care, may be another barrier. It is therefore important that statutory and professional bodies work together to formally endorse and disseminate guidelines or adapt them to the national context,¹⁴⁰ preferably with input from people living with HF.¹³⁹

Guideline-based care in HF is held back by an absence of care pathways and networks to support implementation

Some professional societies have established national or regional clinical pathways and care protocols to support high-quality HF care and better integrated working (*Table 6*). Joint protocols, arising from multi-stakeholder efforts, are particularly useful. However, they are not developed consistently, and, where available, they may not benefit from formal recognition from central authorities.

Equally, national clinical networks for the management of HF are crucial to promote transfer of clinical and organisational best practices, but they remain widely underdeveloped across Europe.

TABLE 6. Guidelines, care pathways and protocols for heart failure

Belgium	Denmark	England	France	Germany
ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard for cardiologists and nurses Professional societies developed national guidelines for primary care ^{137 138}	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care Professional societies developed national and regional guidance for elements of HF care, such as cardiac rehabilitation ^{128 143} and palliative care ¹⁴⁴	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence develops national guidelines and resource impact reports ⁸⁶¹⁴⁶¹⁴⁷	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care French Society of Cardiology developed national guidance for elements of HF care, such as therapeutic education ¹⁴⁹	National Healthcare Guidelines on HF make clinical recommendations for all healthcare professionals and cover their implementation ¹⁵¹
Regional HF care pathways span hospital and	National clinical pathway for heart diseases covers	Local rapid access pathways support diagnosis and	National HF care pathway introduced in 2014, but	HF-NET programme links outpatient and hospital HF services

management of

HF,¹⁴⁸ but a national

approach is lacking

implementation is

inconsistent across

the country¹⁵⁰

within regional

networks through

care pathways and standard operating procedures¹⁵²

community

settings141142

diagnosis and

management of HF¹⁴⁵

		*		*	
Greece	Ireland	Italy	Poland	Portugal	Spain
ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard for cardiologists	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care	ESC HF guidelines endorsed as national standard of HF care
University of Crete Clinic of Social and Family Medicine developed guidance for primary care ¹⁵³	Irish College of General Practitioners developed a national guide on HF care for general practitioners ¹³⁵	Professional societies developed guidance for elements of HF care e.g. management of acute HF, ¹⁵⁵ palliative care ¹⁵⁶ and telemedicine in HF care ¹⁵⁷		Professional societies developed guidance for elements of HF care e.g. cardiac rehabilitation ¹⁵⁹ and acute cardiac care ¹⁶⁰	Professional societies developed guidance for elements of HF care e.g. management of acute HF ¹⁶¹
No pathways or protocols outlining integration of HF care	National implementation underway for an HF referral pathway incorporating an electronic referral system and virtual consultations between general practitioners and	No pathways or protocols outlining integration of HF care	Professional societies have developed guidance to support collaboration between general practitioners and cardiologists ¹⁵⁸	No pathways or protocols outlining integration of HF care	Professional societies developed national consensus documents outlining palliative care for HF ¹⁶² and joint care processes between cardiology and internal medicine, ¹³¹ and

practitioners and cardiologists¹⁵⁴

cardiology and primary care¹⁶³

There are too few accreditation programmes for HF services

In a few countries, independent healthcare organisations or professional societies have led accreditation programmes for HF services, seeking to promote high-quality HF care. However, this is not yet standard practice (*Table 7*).

TABLE 7. Accreditation of specialist settings for heart failure

Belgium	National accreditation scheme for hospital care programmes was introduced in 2004. ¹⁶⁴ In 2016, hospitals were asked to submit HF care pathways and protocols for accreditation, but progress has stalled ¹⁶⁵	
Denmark	National hospital accreditation programme includes indicators for HF ^{125 166}	
England	Solution No accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
France	So accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
Germany	HF centres must obtain accreditation from the German Cardiac Society to participate in the HF-NET programme ¹⁵²	
Greece	No accreditation initiatives for HF settings ■	
Ireland	No accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
Italy	So accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
Poland	No accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
Portugal	No accreditation initiatives for HF settings	
Spain	Accreditation programme for HF units in cardiology departments; ¹⁶⁷ similar programme underway for units in internal medicine departments ¹⁶⁸	

Additional information and sources can be found in the country profiles.

Registries, audits and high-level assessment initiatives

Why it matters

Centrally led, comprehensive and ongoing assessment of performance is vital to identify gaps, inequalities and opportunities for improvement

Ongoing registries (and the audits that draw on them) enable the assessment of care quality using comprehensive databases that collect data on standardised indicators.^{19 140} Registries can improve understanding of gaps in care and the clinical characteristics of the challenge.^{169 170} In addition, they can significantly improve accountability for care services, and can provide feedback to help to guide care improvements and healthcare investment.² To enable this, protocols should be in place to share data and audit findings with healthcare providers in a clear and timely manner.²³

Ideally, registries should assess the full spectrum of care and thus include several categories of indicators.¹⁷¹ Mandatory participation increases the likelihood of data being complete and representative.

Few governments have ongoing registries to assess performance in HF, obstructing central oversight and accountability

Most countries do not have registries that would provide ongoing assessment of HF performance and outcomes (*Table 8*). They may rely on less comprehensive sources, such as multicentre registries that are time-limited, regional, predominantly research initiatives, or which focus on selected care settings or types/stages of HF.

SEE Spotlight on quality assessment in heart failure care¹⁷¹

TABLE 8. Collection and assessment of heart failure data

	National registries or audits	Other notable assessment initiatives
Belgium	So national HF registry or audit	HF centre assessment initiative due to launch in 2021 ¹⁶⁵
Denmark	Danish Heart Failure Registry collects data from all hospitals involved in HF care (mandatory) ¹⁷²	Publicly funded databases monitor healthcare delivery, clinical outcomes and societal factors. ¹⁷³ Data can be linked to HF registry for comprehensive analysis
England	National Heart Failure Audit collects data on people admitted to hospitals (mandatory) ¹⁷⁴	National pay-for-performance schemes monitor and incentivise optimal HF care in acute and community settings ^{175 176}
France	Solution No national HF registry or audit	Multi-year study on acute and chronic HF ¹⁷⁷ and registry focused on acute HF ¹⁷⁸ (voluntary). National healthcare database collects wide range of data, including on HF ¹⁷⁹
Germany	So national HF registry or audit	HF quality indicators for primary care and other ambulatory settings (voluntary) ¹⁸⁰
Greece	So national HF registry or audit	Regional assessment initiative collects data on HF management (voluntary) ¹⁰³
Ireland	No national HF registry or audit	Tools to assess HF care using the primary care IT system (voluntary) ¹⁸¹
Italy	So national HF registry or audit	Different aspects of HF care monitored through various registries ¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁵
Poland	So national HF registry or audit	National DATA-HELP registry collects data on diagnosis and management of HFrEF ¹⁸⁶
Portugal	So national HF registry or audit	National study recently initiated to measure HF prevalence ¹⁸⁷
Spain	Solution No national HF registry or audit	Registries explore the burden of acute HF, ¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰ the quality of care provided in HF units, ^{191 192} and frailty in heart transplantation candidates ¹⁹³

HF: heart failure; *HFrEF*: heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; *IT*: information technology Additional information can be found in the country profiles.

Heart failure practice across Europe

Diagnosis

Why **it matters**

Timely diagnosis of HF ensures early and vital access to support and treatment

A timely diagnosis is the foundation of effective HF management; starting treatment as early as possible may help avoid hospitalisation and achieve optimal outcomes.^{19 20 91}

Proper diagnosis of HF requires several key tests, including a blood test for NP levels, an electrocardiogram, an echocardiogram and, in the case of acute HF, a chest X-ray.²⁰ Interpretation of results may not be straightforward²⁰ and specialist training is required to interpret imaging results.

HF diagnosis is hindered by poor recognition of symptoms and limited access to and use of diagnostic tests

Delays to diagnosis are widely reported in the literature and by national experts – HF is often diagnosed when severe damage to the heart has already occurred.²⁸⁷ This is partly due to patients and healthcare professionals misinterpreting symptoms of HF as signs of ageing or comorbidities.¹⁹⁴

Overall, NP testing is used inconsistently. This may be due to lack of reimbursement in some settings, or for other reasons including dismissal of symptoms as not HF-related or a lack of understanding of the value of the test.^{92 97 98 195} Underuse of NP testing misses an important step in the diagnostic pathway – one that may expedite specialist referral or assist healthcare professionals in ruling out HF, which may free up specialist capacity.

Pressure point 1: Presentation and diagnosis⁸⁷ in The handbook of multidisciplinary and integrated heart failure care To address the need to improve HF diagnosis, national experts have called for greater involvement of primary care professionals in the process via more consistent reimbursement policies for NP testing.^{90 92}

Communication of diagnosis may also be an issue. If healthcare professionals think that the term 'heart failure' will worry the person, they may refrain from using the correct terminology,^{196 197} meaning the person may not comprehend the seriousness of their condition until much later.

Hospital care and discharge

Why it matters

Specialist-led hospital care and effective discharge planning improve outcomes for people with HF

Following the correct identification of an episode of acute HF, optimal in-hospital care involves initiation or adjustment of treatment, management of comorbidities and risk factors, patient education and empowerment, and a tailored plan for discharge.^{9 19} Care should be provided by a multidisciplinary team led by an HF specialist.

High-quality hospital care and discharge with a plan are crucial as the transition from hospital to community care is a critical period – risk of readmission and mortality remains high for up to three months following discharge.²⁶ Leading models of discharge may reduce length of hospital stay (without compromising patient safety),¹⁹⁸ along with costs and risk of hospital readmission.^{6 44 46 199}

The unequal regional distribution of HF units and varying involvement of specialists may hinder best practice in hospital care

Geographical variation in access to HF specialist settings, which are often based in urban centres, is a significant barrier to high-quality care and contributes to inequalities.^{26 200} Hospitals and clinics in remote and rural areas may struggle to recruit specialists, and people living in these areas often have much more limited access to specialist care.

Discharge planning remains a significant missed opportunity across Europe

Hospital discharge and post-discharge care often deviate from best-practice recommendations.²⁰¹ Across Europe, specialist-led hospital discharge tends to be available only in HF centres of excellence or smaller units that have developed their own protocols.^{44 84} Barriers may include a lack of discharge processes supporting integration of care and a lack of IT systems promoting communication between healthcare professionals and care settings.^{97 103}

To address the need to improve hospital discharge and post-discharge support, national experts have advocated for discharge checklists, consistent use of letters to general practitioners (GPs) with individualised guidance for ongoing care, and telemedicine appointments.^{97 165 195 202}

Key components of quality care in community settings

Why it matters

An integrated and multidisciplinary approach to HF management in the community is essential to optimise outcomes

The majority of HF admissions are considered preventable with effective community services.^{25 26} Best-practice HF care has been well documented.^{2 203-205} Crucial aspects of care include:

- cardiac rehabilitation, which may include structured exercise training adapted to people living with HF; it may help reduce hospitalisation and improve quality of life^{206 207}
- self-care education, which helps people with HF follow important behaviours to optimise outcomes, such as monitoring their symptoms, adhering to their medication and care plan, maintaining a healthy lifestyle and recognising when to seek professional support^{20 63}
- psychological support, which helps people deal with the substantial challenges of living with HF and can help them remain motivated and engaged with care^{203 204}
- ► **palliative care,** which helps people understand and define future treatment goals and preferences, and prevent or relieve suffering.^{127 208}

SEE Pressure

point 3: Clinical management,²⁰⁴ Pressure point 4: Patient empowerment and self-care, 203 The handbook of multidisciplinary and integrated heart failure care,² Understanding heart failure guidelines: comorbidities²⁰⁹ and Spotlight on *iron deficiency* in heart failure²¹⁰

Continuity of care is not a consistent reality for people living with HF

HF care typically transitions to the GP after a period of months in specialist outpatient care, and many people living with HF are referred directly to GPs on discharge,⁸⁶ particularly if there is no local specialist option. However, while GPs may be motivated to provide good standards of care, they may not always be sufficiently supported to follow best-practice recommendations in HF.²¹¹ This means that HF is often not optimally managed in community settings, and considerable inequalities are seen in access to care and outcomes.

Guideline-recommended treatments for HF, including medications, are often not prescribed consistently,¹⁸⁵ and even in specialist community settings patient outcomes may be suboptimal.²¹² HF clinics may themselves lack referral, communication and integrated protocols with a wider range of healthcare professionals in the primary care setting, including GPs.²¹³

There is a significant lack of provision of cardiac rehabilitation for HF

Cardiac rehabilitation is rarely provided for people living with HF in Europe. One exception to this is Denmark, where it is consistently offered in HF clinics. Key barriers include a lack of HF-specific programmes, restrictive eligibility parameters, the fact that these services are usually based in hospitals, and lack of resources such as staff, infrastructure and funds.^{104 II2 214} Some barriers could potentially be addressed by non-traditional models of cardiac rehabilitation, such as home-based programmes with an exercise manual,²¹⁵ live classes streamed online¹¹³ or telerehabilitation (using telemedicine platforms).²¹⁶

Self-care education and psychological support are not consistently offered in HF care

Across Europe, there is a widespread lack of formal initiatives to empower people with HF to adopt self-care behaviours. Barriers to provision include a lack of HF specialist nurses or low numbers of practice nurses, the heavy workload of clinicians involved in HF care, limited training opportunities for professionals and the fact that self-care is not always seen as a priority.^{103 104}

People living with HF and their families and carers do not receive enough psychological support. According to national experts, the lack of psychologists in HF care teams or their limited number in hospitals, in addition to hesitancy among some people to use this service due to stigma, may be a contributing factor.^{110 112 118 217}

There is limited provision of advance care planning in HF

Referrals to advance care planning and palliative care may happen either late in the care journey or not at all.^{107 165 208} Many national experts report that palliative care has yet to be established outside of cancer.^{103 118 219} Reasons may include uncertainties regarding who should lead services and when they should be initiated, lack of structures for multidisciplinary collaboration and, finally, limited understanding of the severity and prognosis of HF among people living with the syndrome and their families or carers.^{129 130} Healthcare professionals may be hesitant to discuss prognosis if they think the information could upset the person with HF.¹⁶⁵ In addition, the prioritisation of preserving years of life over quality of life is ingrained in healthcare provision, promoting medical interventions and delaying, or avoiding, end-of-life care discussions.

Tools and methods to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing HF care

Why it matters

Referral pathways and clear communication between healthcare professionals help deliver optimal HF care

Effective communication and collaboration across healthcare settings and between the HF care team, the person living with HF and their family/carers are crucial for the delivery of multidisciplinary and integrated HF care.² ²²⁰

Proven approaches to deliver this include referral pathways, multidisciplinary meetings, HF specialist same-day advice to GPs by email, and nurse-led telephone follow-up.²²¹⁻²²⁴ Increasingly, digital tools are allowing for a range of innovative models to improve integration of HF care, such as multidisciplinary virtual meetings and remote monitoring, often making use of tablets, smartphones and home-based medical equipment to support communication and information exchange.^{178 225-228}

Specific tools and models to support this, particularly those involving telemedicine, have demonstrated immense value. For example, good evidence has been demonstrated for increased quality of life and stabilisation of HF symptoms, along with reduced mortality, hospital readmissions, length of admissions and associated healthcare costs.²²⁹⁻²³³

Truly multidisciplinary working in HF is not the reality in most areas, held back by lack of tools and low uptake of those that exist

Genuinely collaborative working methods still seem to be a distant reality for many professionals working in HF. In most areas, the lack of incentives or collaborative protocols, and the incompatibility of IT systems between care settings and regions, contribute to the fragmentation of care.^{101 111} The absence of such models may be most keenly felt in geographically isolated areas,¹⁹⁵ where local access to HF specialists is either unavailable or infrequent.

Poor communication between settings arises even where standardised and integrated protocols for HF management are actively promoted, as the use of these protocols requires all relevant care settings to implement them, which does not happen consistently.^{114 234 235}

While some regional programmes have implemented multidisciplinary protocols and pathways for the management of HF,^{97 141} national approaches are often lacking. To date, governments appear to have neglected the strategic potential of such models to transform care services at scale, in line with the wider lack of strategic focus on HF as a whole. In the meantime, the development of such models seems to be largely dependent on commitment from professional groups or provider federations, regional initiatives, or local healthcare professionals with an interest in HF.^{97 99 100 141}

A renewed focus on telemedicine is being driven by COVID-19 adaptations

Several HF care models using telemedicine have been developed across Europe,^{27 29 46 236 237} and the wider interest in remote care models prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic has led to the rapid establishment of telephone and video consultations. While many adaptations were conceived as a necessary compromise in the face of social distancing rules, their use has served to highlight the benefits of telemedicine for people who cannot easily access care.^{30 98} Some centres have shown promising results, for example reducing HF hospitalisations and deaths compared with the same period in 2019.29 Others report that this has enabled clinicians to be more present in each patient's life and care, thanks to the more frequent and rapid contacts.¹⁰¹

Successful implementation of such approaches highlights the value of telemedicine Spotlight on as an important tool for the management of HF and its potential in supporting integration of care moving forward. The process has not been seamless, however, and concerns have been voiced as to potential deficits in such models - for example, care® the inability to adjust certain medications if blood pressure cannot be taken.

SEE

telemedicine in ongoing heart failure

The way forward // 37

Where dowego fromhere?

The way forward

Addressing HF requires policies and care pathways that support multidisciplinary and integrated care, investment in a workforce prepared to respond to the challenge, and tools to promote clear communication and assessment of performance. Equally, all healthcare professionals involved in the management of HF must recognise the importance of collaboration and person-centred care.

Moving forward, a stark difference in public health and economic performance will emerge between countries that renew investment in effective HF diagnosis and care, and those that do not. Each country faces its own set of challenges, and we discuss national needs in the country profiles that accompany this report. There are, however, crucial actions that are needed in most, if not all, countries analysed in this study.

Increase awareness of HF among the public, healthcare professionals and decision-makers

Understanding of HF must be improved at all levels to overcome the inertia surrounding it. Awareness campaigns aimed at the public may encourage people to see a healthcare professional as soon as they start experiencing signs and symptoms. Training opportunities led by national professional societies can support healthcare professionals in the correct identification of signs and symptoms as well as optimal management of HF in line with the latest guidelines. Targeted messaging for decision-makers should include comparisons between the burden of HF and better-known conditions, such as cancer or type 2 diabetes.

Reimburse NP testing universally across care settings and incentivise its appropriate use to support diagnosis of HF

NP testing offers significant opportunities to streamline HF diagnosis and care. It can help prioritise referrals for echocardiography, which will likely reduce waiting lists for specialist examinations. However, reimbursement policies often fall short, paying for NP testing only when prescribed by a specialist physician, or not at all. It is also essential for NP testing to be used consistently in HF diagnosis. Professional bodies, particularly primary care societies, can help improve understanding of the value of NP testing in HF by providing training for primary care physicians on the correct use and interpretation of diagnostic tests.

Accredit and fund the HF specialist nurse role

The benefits of nurse-led HF management have been widely demonstrated, and it is now essential that countries across Europe formally recognise the HF specialist nurse role in order to expand the HF workforce. In some countries, nursing societies are guiding efforts to standardise requirements in terms of education and clinical responsibilities; in others, this has yet to happen. Such criteria can be incorporated into postgraduate training programmes, which should be formally recognised by the regional and national healthcare systems and professional societies. Accreditation should be linked to financial recognition of the role to foster interest.

• **Invest** in tools to support communication across care settings, including appropriate IT systems

Different countries are at different stages of developing IT systems that foster communication and collaboration between healthcare professionals, so the next steps vary significantly depending on the country. Integrated healthcare IT systems will be crucial to fully informed decision-making, helping to improve outcomes and reduce the burden of HF. Such systems will offer greater resilience and adaptability in the face of crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic. They can become the foundation for national HF registries.

Fund and facilitate multidisciplinary and integrated HF care though the development of care protocols, clinical networks and telemedicine models

Several professional societies have already laid the groundwork for high-quality HF care through the development of national guidance, and have called for policies and funding frameworks to support the proposed care models. However, across Europe, there remains a widespread need for HF-specific care protocols that articulate how healthcare professionals should collaborate in real-world settings, and for reimbursement to cover integrated care. Multidisciplinary care can also be advanced via the development of clinical HF networks with clear links between healthcare professionals working in different settings. The COVID-19 pandemic has underscored the value of telemedicine in HF care; such models should be more widely adopted to avoid unnecessary visits to care settings, which would help ensure care for people in remote areas and could reduce costs. Models of collaboration with patient associations should be explored to ensure people with HF and their families or carers can access accurate information and are empowered to adhere to self-care behaviours.

We hope that this report and the accompanying country profiles contribute to the understanding of the challenge that HF currently poses across Europe, and drive multidisciplinary discussion and health system improvement. Ultimately, we hope the human and economic burden of HF is finally addressed via stronger policies and clinical care to improve the lives of the millions of people living with HF.

References

1. Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Filippatos G, et al. 2008. ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008. *Eur J Heart Fail* 10(10): 933-89

2. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. The handbook of multidisciplinary and integrated heart failure care. London: HFPN

3. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2018. *Health at a glance: Europe 2018.* Paris: OECD/EU

4. Cook C, Cole G, Asaria P, *et al.* 2014. The annual global economic burden of heart failure. *Int J Cardiol* 171(3): 368-76

5. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2015. *Chronic Heart Failure (update): Prioritised quality improvement areas for development*. London: NICE

6 Cowie MR, Anker SD, Cleland JGF, *et al.* 2014. Improving care for patients with acute heart failure: before, during and after hospitalization. *ESC Heart Fail* 1(2): 110-45

7. Vestergaard AS, Hansen L, Sørensen SS, et al. 2020. Is telehealthcare for heart failure patients costeffective? An economic evaluation alongside the Danish TeleCare North heart failure trial. *BMJ Open* 10(1): e031670

8. Feltner C, Jones C, Cene C, *et al.* 2014. Transitional care interventions to prevent readmissions for persons with heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 160(11): 774-84

9. Ponikowski P, Anker SD, AlHabib KF, et al. 2014. Heart failure: preventing disease and death worldwide. *ESC Heart Fail* 1(1): 4-25

10. Frankenstein L, Fröhlich H, Cleland J. 2015. Multidisciplinary approach for patients hospitalized with heart failure. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 68(10): 885-91

11. Dweck MR, Bularga A, Hahn RT, *et al.* 2020. Global evaluation of echocardiography in patients with COVID-19. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 21(9): 949-58

12. Oliveros E, Brailovsky Y, Scully P, *et al.* 2020. Coronavirus Disease 2019 and Heart Failure: A Multiparametric Approach. *Card Fail Rev* 6: e22-e22.

13. Farmakis D, Mehra MR, Parissis J, *et al.* 2020. Heart failure in the course of a pandemic. *Eur J Heart Fail*: 10.1002/ejhf.1929:

14. Alliance for Heart Failure. 2020. Written evidence submitted by the Alliance for Heart Failure (DEL0262). United Kingdom: Alliance for Heart Failure

15. Ministère des solidarités et de la santé. 2020. Ségur de la santé : les conclusions. Available from: https://solidarites-sante.gouv.fr/systeme-de-santeet-medico-social/segur-de-la-sante-les-conclusions/ [Accessed 11/10/20]

16. Programa Nacional para as Doenças Cérebro-Cardiovasculares. 2017. *Programa Nacional para as Doenças Cérebro-Cardiovasculares*. Lisbon: Direção-Geral da Saúde **17.** Ministero della Salute. Piano nazionale della prevenzione [National prevention plan]. Available from: http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/temi/p2_4.jsp?l ingua=italiano&tema=Prevenzione&area=prevenzione [Accessed 24/08/2020]

18. Integreo. 2015. Gemeenschappelijk plan voor chronisch zieken: Geïntegreerde zorg voor een betere gezondheid. Available from: https://www.integreo. be/sites/default/files/public/content/plan_nl.pdf [Accessed 27/09/20]

19. McDonagh TA, Blue L, Clark AL, *et al.* 2011. European Society of Cardiology Heart Failure Association standards for delivering heart failure care. *Eur J Heart Fail* 13(3): 235-41

20. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, et al. 2016. 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail* 18(8): 891-975

21. Sobański PZ, Brzezińska Rajszys G, Grodzicki T, et al. 2020. Palliative care for people living with cardiac disease. *Kardiol Pol* 78(4): 364-73

22. Fernández Redondo C, de la Vieja Alarcón JJ, Fradejas Sastre V, et al. 2019. Diagnóstico de la situación de la Enfermería en la atención cardiológica en España. Proyecto MAREC: Justificación, diseño y resultados generales. Enfermería en cardiología: revista científica e informativa de la Asociación Española de Enfermería en Cardiología: (77): 82-93

23. National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research. 2019. National Heart Failure Audit: 2019 summary report (2017/18 data). London: NICOR

24. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Heart Disease. 2016. Focus on Heart Failure: 10 recommendations to improve care and transform lives. London: British Heart Foundation

25. WHO Regional Office for Europe. 2015. *Ambulatory* care sensitive conditions in Germany. Copenhagen: World Health Organization

26. WHO Regional Office for Europe. 2016. *Ambulatory care sensitive conditions in Portugal*. Copenhagen: World Health Organization

27. Comín-Colet J, Enjuanes C, Verdu-Rotellar JM, *et al.* 2016. Impact on clinical events and healthcare costs of adding telemedicine to multidisciplinary disease management programmes for heart failure: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *J Telemed Telecare* 22(5): 282-95

28. Agrinier N, Altieri C, Alla F, et al. 2013. Effectiveness of a multidimensional home nurse led heart failure disease management program--a French nationwide time-series comparison. Int J Cardiol 168(4): 3652-8

29. Nunes-Ferreira A, Agostinho JR, Rigueira J, *et al.* 2020. Non-invasive telemonitoring improves outcomes in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: a study in high-risk patients. *ESC Heart Fail*: 10.1002/ehf2.12999

30. Salzano A, D'Assante R, Stagnaro FM, et al. 2020. Heart failure management during the COVID-19 outbreak in Italy: a telemedicine experience from a heart failure university tertiary referral centre. Eur J Heart Fail 22(6): 1048-50 **31.** Mebazaa A, Yilmaz MB, Levy P, *et al.* 2015. Recommendations on pre-hospital & early hospital management of acute heart failure: a consensus paper from the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology, the European Society of Emergency Medicine and the Society of Academic Emergency Medicine. *Eur J Heart Fail* 17(6): 544-58

32. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. Spotlight on HFpEF: heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. London: HFPN

33. van Deursen VM, Urso R, Laroche C, et al. 2014. Comorbidities in patients with heart failure: an analysis of the European Heart Failure Pilot Survey. *Eur J Heart Fail* 16(1): 103-11

34. Chamberlain AM, St. Sauver JL, Gerber Y, *et al.* 2015. Multimorbidity in heart failure: a community perspective. *Am J Med* 128(1): 38-45

35. Ergatoudes C, Schaufelberger M, Andersson B, *et al.* 2019. Non-cardiac comorbidities and mortality in patients with heart failure with reduced vs. preserved ejection fraction: a study using the Swedish Heart Failure Registry. *Clin Res Cardiol* 108(9): 1025-33

36. The Heart Failure Policy Network. Understanding HF Guidelines. Available from: https://www. htpolicynetwork.org/project/understanding-heart-failure-guidelines/ [Accessed 13/11/20]

37. Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Leip EP, et al. 2002. Lifetime risk for developing congestive heart failure: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 106(24): 3068-72

38. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. 2019. *World population ageing 2019: Highlights.* New York: UN

39. McMurray JJ, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, *et al.* 2012. ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 14(8): 803-69

40. Taylor CJ, Ordóñez-Mena JM, Roalfe AK, et al. 2019. Trends in survival after a diagnosis of heart failure in the United Kingdom 2000-2017: population based cohort study. BMJ 364: 1223

41. Mamas MA, Sperrin M, Watson MC, *et al.* 2017. Do patients have worse outcomes in heart failure than in cancer? A primary care-based cohort study with 10-year follow-up in Scotland. *Eur J Heart Fail* 19(9): 1095-104

42. Savarese G, Lund LH. 2017. Global public health burden of heart failure. *Card Fail Rev* 3(1): 7-11

43. European Heart Network, European Society of Cardiology. 2020. Fighting cardiovascular disease – a blueprint for EU action. Available from: https:// www.escardio.org/static-file/Escardio/Advocacy/ Documents/2020%20ESC-EHN-blueprint_digital%20 edition.pdf [Accessed 23/07/20]

44. Comín-Colet J, Verdu-Rotellar J, Vela E, *et al.* 2014. Efficacy of an integrated hospital-primary care program for heart failure: a population-based analysis of 56,742 patients. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 67(4): 283-93 **45.** Chan D, Clayton L, Bhattacharya A, *et al.* 2020. P1196 Timely heart failure specialist input with urgent heart failure clinic reduces death or all-cause hospitalisation in a real-world cohort. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(S1): 199

46. Gallagher J, James S, Keane C, *et al.* 2017. Heart Failure Virtual Consultation: bridging the gap of heart failure care in the community - A mixed-methods evaluation. *ESC Heart Fail* 4(3): 252-58

47. Li J-W, Han T-W, Woodward M, *et al.* 2020. The impact of 2019 novel coronavirus on heart injury: A Systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.04.008:

48. Bader F, Manla Y, Atallah B, *et al.* 2020. Heart failure and COVID-19. *Heart Fail Rev*: 10.1007/s10741-020-10008-2: 1-10

49. Ganatra S, Dani SS, Shah S, *et al.* 2020. Management of Cardiovascular Disease During Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pandemic. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 30(6): 315-25

50. Tomasoni D, Italia L, Adamo M, *et al.* 2020. COVID-19 and heart failure: from infection to inflammation and angiotensin II stimulation. Searching for evidence from a new disease. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(6): 957-66

51. Loungani RS, Rehorn MR, Newby LK, *et al.* 2020. A care pathway for the cardiovascular complications of COVID-19: Insights from an institutional response. *Am Heart J* 225: 3-9

52. Blake I. Nearly half of heart patients find it harder to get medical treatment in lockdown. [Updated 05/06/2020]. Available from: https://www.bhf.org.uk/ what-we-do/news-from-the-bhf/news-archive/2020/ june/half-heart-patients-harder-get-medicaltreatment-lockdown [Accessed 13/10/2020]

53. Hasan S, Ur Rahman H, Patil A, *et al.* 2020. Impact of COVID-19 on cardiology services in a district hospital and adapting to the new normal. *Postgrad Med J*: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2020-138228:

54. Mafham MM, Spata E, Goldacre R, *et al.* 2020. COVID-19 pandemic and admission rates for and management of acute coronary syndromes in England. *The Lancet* 396(10248): 381-89

55. Andersson C, Gerds T, Fosbøl E, *et al.* 2020. Incidence of New-Onset and Worsening Heart Failure Before and After the COVID-19 Epidemic Lockdown in Denmark. *Circ Heart Fail* 13(6): e007274

56. Shah N, Ahmed I, Nazir T. 2020. Heart failure-related hospitalisation and management during the COVID-19 pandemic: a reflection. *Eur J Heart Fail* n/a(n/a):

57. Cleland JGF, Clark RA, Pellicori P, *et al.* 2020. Caring for people with heart failure and many other medical problems through and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic: the advantages of universal access to home telemonitoring. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(6): 995-98

58. Bromage DI, Cannatà A, Rind IA, *et al.* 2020. The impact of COVID-19 on heart failure hospitalization and management: report from a Heart Failure Unit in London during the peak of the pandemic. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(6): 978-84

59. The Heart Failure Policy Network. HFPN videos: Nick's story. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=6nSZxMrCdkw [Accessed 21/09/20]

60. The Heart Failure Policy Network. HFPNn videos: Oberdan's story. Available from: https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=jXNOgGQyDbw [Accessed 21/09/20]

61. The Heart Failure Policy Network. HFPN videos: Jayne's story. Available from: https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=MiOF1VLPP8U [Accessed 21/09/20]

62. Comín-Colet J, Anguita M, Formiga F, *et al.* 2016. Health-related Quality of Life of Patients With Chronic Systolic Heart Failure in Spain: Results of the VIDA-IC Study. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 69(3): 256-71

63. Lainscak M, Blue L, Clark AL, *et al.* 2011. Selfcare management of heart failure: practical recommendations from the Patient Care Committee of the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology. *Eur J Heart Fail* 13(2): 115-26

64. Strömberg A. 2013. The Situation of Caregivers in Heart Failure and Their Role in Improving Patient Outcomes. *Curr Heart Fail Rep* 10(3): 270-75

65. Hofmarcher T, Brådvik G, Svedman C, et al. 2019. Comparator Report on Cancer in Europe 2019 – Disease Burden, Costs and Access to Medicines. Lund: The Swedish Institute for Health Economics (IHE)

66. The Heartbeat Trust, Irish Heart Foundation, NUI Galway. 2015. *The Cost of Heart Failure in Ireland: The social, economic and health implications of Heart Failure in Ireland*. Dublin: The Heartbeat Trust

67. Lyszczarz B. 2018. Indirect costs and public finance consequences of heart failure in Poland, 2012–2015. BMC Public Health 18(1): 1130

68. Rørth R, Wong C, Kragholm K, *et al.* 2016. Return to the Workforce After First Hospitalization for Heart Failure: A Danish Nationwide Cohort Study. *Circulation* 134(14): 999-1009

69. Delgado JF, Oliva J, Llano M, *et al.* 2014. Health care and nonhealth care costs in the treatment of patients with symptomatic chronic heart failure in Spain. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 67(8): 643-50

70. Witte KK, Patel PA, Walker AMN, *et al.* 2018. Socioeconomic deprivation and mode-specific outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure. *Heart* 104(12): 993-98

71. Schjødt I, Johnsen SP, Strömberg A, *et al.* 2019. Socioeconomic Factors and Clinical Outcomes Among Patients With Heart Failure in a Universal Health Care System. *JACC: Heart Failure* 7(9): 746-55

72. Andersen J, Gerds TA, Gislason G, *et al.* 2020. Socioeconomic position and one-year mortality risk among patients with heart failure: A nationwide register-based cohort study. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 27(1): 79-88

73. Garcia R, Abellana R, Real J, *et al.* 2018. Health inequalities in hospitalisation and mortality in patients diagnosed with heart failure in a universal healthcare coverage system. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 72(9): 845-51

74. World Heart Federation. 2020. Accelerate change together: heart failure review. Geneva: World Heart Federation

75. Sundhedsstyrelsen. 2016. Sundhedsstyrelsens Udvalg for Hjertesygdomme. Available from: https:// www.sst.dk/-/media/Opgaver/Patientforl%C3%B8bog-kvalitet/Patientforl%C3%B8b/Fokusomraader/ Hjertesygdom/Sundhedsstyrelsens-Udvalgfor-Hjertesygdomme/Kommissorium-for-Sundhedsstyrelsens-Udvalg-for-Hjertesygdomme. ashx [Accessed 27/07/2020]

76. Sundhedsstyrelsen. 2020. Task Force for Patientforløb på Kræft- og Hjerteområdet. Available from: https://www.sst.dk/da/Opgaver/Patientforloebog-kvalitet/Patientforloeb/Fokusomraader/ Hjertesygdomme/Task-Force-for-Patientforloeb-paa-Kraeft--og-Hjerteomraadet [Accessed 22/07/2020]

77. NHS. 2019. Cardiovascular disease. Available from: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/ chapter-3-further-progress-on-care-quality-andoutcomes/better-care-for-major-health-conditions/ cardiovascular-disease/ [Accessed 21/07/20]

78. Ministère des solidarités et de la santé. 2018. Ma santé 2022: Un engagement collectif - Dossier de Presse. Available from: https://solidarites-sante. gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/ma_sante_2022_pages_vdef_.pdf [Accessed 16/10/20]

79. Health Service Executive. 2012. Heart failure model of care. Available from: https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/clinical-strategy-and-programmes/heart-failure-model-of-care-jan-2012.pdf [Accessed 21/05/20]

80. Ministero della Salute. 2019. *Patto Per La Salute 2019-2021.* Roma: Ministero della Salute

81. Ministero della Salute: Direzione Generale Della Programmazione Sanitaria. 2016. Piano Nazionale della Cronicità. Available from: http://www.salute. gov.it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2584_allegato.pdf [Accessed 28/07/2020]

82. Ministerstwo Zdrowia. 2017. Program Profilaktyki i Leczenia Chorób Układu Sercowo-Naczyniowego POLKARD na lata 2017-2020. [Updated 05/12/2019]. Available from: https://www.gov.pl/web/zdrowie/ program-profilaktyki-i-leczenia-chorob-ukladusercowo-naczyniowego-polkard-na-lata-2017-20205 [Accessed 12/08/2020]

83. Diário da República Eletrónico. 2018. Despacho n.º 4583/2018. Available from: https://dre.pt/web/ guest/pesquisa/-/search/115251143/details/normal?l=1 [Accessed 14/11/19]

84. Fonseca C. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [telephone]. 08/09/20

85. Gobierno de España. 2020. El Ministerio de Sanidad traslada a las CCAA el borrador de la Estrategia en Salud Cardiovascular del SNS [online]. Available from: https://www.mscbs.gob.es/gabinete/notasPrensa. do?id=4993 [Accessed 17/07/20]

86. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2018. *Chronic heart failure in adults: diagnosis and management.* London: NICE

87. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. Pressure point 1: Presentation and diagnosis. London: HFPN
88. Cowie MR. 2017. The heart failure epidemic: a UK perspective. Echo Res Pract 4(1): R15-R20

89. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. Spotlight on telemedicine in ongoing heart failure care. London: HFPN

90. Belgian Working Group on Heart Failure, Belgian Society of Cardiology, Belgian Working Group on Cardiovascular Nursing, *et al.* Charte pour les patients insuffisants cardiaques. Available from: http://www. fr.docvadis.be/moncoeur/document/moncoeur/ charte_de_l_insuffisance_cardiaque2/fr/metadata/ files/0/file/1Charte-grand%20public%20FR.pdf [Accessed 23/07/20]

91. Irish Cardiac Society. 2016. Irish Cardiac Society calls for rapid community heart failure diagnosis. Available from: http://www.irishcardiacsociety.com/pages/news_box.asp?NewsID=19792213. [Accessed 14/05/20]

92. The Heart Failure Policy Network, Campos L, Herdeiro V, et al. 2020. Strategic consensus for heart failure in Portugal. Lisbon: Catholic University of Portugal

93. McDonald K. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 21/08/20

94. Vercammen J. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 09/09/20

95. Straburzyńska-Migaj E. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 11/09/2020

96. Robben F. 2016. eHealth: state of affairs and perspectives. Available from: https://www.frankrobben. be/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/20160603b.pptx [Accessed 11/09/20]

97. Smeets M. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 16/09/20

98. Lund Kristensen S. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 10/09/2020

99. Clayton L. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 01/09/20

100. Malone A. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [telephone]. 23/09/20

101. Vogt V, Koller D, Sundmacher L. 2016. Continuity of care in the ambulatory sector and hospital admissions among patients with heart failure in Germany. *Eur J Public Health* 26(4): 555-61

102. Athanasakis K. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [telephone]. 11/09/20

103. Lionis C. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 07/07/20

104. Gallagher J. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [telephone]. 24/06/20

105. Maggioni A. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan and Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Telephone]. 21/08/2020 106. Hetman P. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 11/09/2020
107. Krówczyńska D. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Written]. 17/09/2020
108. Leszek P. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan Sara C Marques and Ed Harding at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 09/09/2020

109. Simões JdA, Augusto GF, Fronteira I, *et al.* 2017. Portugal: health system review. *Health Syst Transit* 19(2): 1-184

110. Quintão S. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 10/09/20

111. Rojahn K, Laplante S, Sloand J, *et al.* 2016. Remote Monitoring of Chronic Diseases: A Landscape Assessment of Policies in Four European Countries. *PLoS One* 11(5): e0155738-e38

112. Obaya JC. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for the Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 03/07/20

113. Hartshorne-Evans N. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 15/09/20

114. Störk S. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 21/08/20

115. Oyanguren J, García-Garrido LL, Nebot-Margalef M, et al. 2020. Noninferiority of heart failure nurse titration versus heart failure cardiologist titration. ETIFIC multicenter randomized trial. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)*: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rec.2020.04.016:

116. Clark AL. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Ed Harding at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 15/09/20

117. Pumping Marvellous. 2018. *Heart failure nurse audit.* Preston: The Pumping Marvellous Foundation **118.** Uchmanowicz I. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 11/09/2020

119. DGK Akademie. 2020. Aufbaukurs Herzinsuffizienz. Available from: https://akademie.dgk. org/veranstaltung/37199/ [Accessed 15/06/20]

120. Barrios V, Escobar C, Pallares V, *et al.* 2018. [Management of heart failure in cardiology and primary care (MICCAP) program: Improving the management of patients with heart failure]. *Semergen* 44(8): 572-78

121. Universitätsklinikum Würzburg. Fortbildungen für Pflegekräfte und Medizinische Fachangestellte (MFA). Available from: https://www.ukw.de/ behandlungszentren/dzhi/lehre-und-fortbildung/ fortbildungen/ [Accessed 15/07/20]

122. García-Garrido LL. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [written interview]. 03/08/20 **123.** Schjødt I. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 20/08/2020

124. McDonagh TA, Gardner RS, Lainscak M, *et al.* 2014. Heart failure association of the European society of cardiology specialist heart failure curriculum. *Eur J Heart Fail* 16(2): 151-62

125. Falstie-Jensen AM, Bogh SB, Hollnagel E, et al. 2017. Compliance with accreditation and recommended hospital care—a Danish nationwide population-based study. Int J Qual Health Care 29(5): 625-33

126. Piepoli MF, Conraads V, Corra U, *et al.* 2011. Exercise training in heart failure: from theory to practice. A consensus document of the Heart Failure Association and the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *Eur J Heart Fail* 13(4): 347-57

127. Rietjens JAC, Sudore RL, Connolly M, *et al.* 2017. Definition and recommendations for advance care planning: an international consensus supported by the European Association for Palliative Care. *Lancet Oncol* 18(9): e543-e51

128. Sundhedsstyrelsen. 2013. National klinisk retningslinje for hjerterehabilitering. Copenhagen: Danish Health Authority

129. Ziehm J, Farin E, Schäfer J, *et al.* 2016. Palliative care for patients with heart failure: facilitators and barriers - a cross sectional survey of German health care professionals. *BMC Health Serv Res* 16(a): 361-61 **130.** Ziehm J, Farin E, Seibel K, *et al.* 2016. Health care professionals' attitudes regarding palliative care for

patients with chronic heart failure: an interview study. BMC Palliat Care 15(1): 76

131. Grupos de trabajo SEC-SEMI (Insuficiencia Cardiaca). 2016. Propuesta conjunta SEC- SEMI para la organización compartida de nuevos modelos de atención al paciente con insuficiencia cardíaca en base a programas y unidades de insuficiencia cardíaca. Madrid: SEMI-SEC

132. Ricciardi E, La Malfa G, Guglielmi G, et al. 2020. Characteristics of current heart failure patients admitted to internal medicine vs. cardiology hospital units: the VASCO study. *Intern Emerg Med* 15(7): 1219-29

133. González Franco Á. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for the Heart Failure Policy Network) [telephone]. 21/07/20

134. Rutten FH, Taylor CJ, Brouwer J, et al. 2017. Practical guidance on heart failure diagnosis and management in primary care. Heemstede: European Primary Care Cardiovascular Society

135. Gallagher J, McDonald K. 2019. *Heart failure in general practice*. Dublin: Irish College of General Practitioners

136. Gallagher J, McDonald K. 2019. *Heart failure in general practice: Appendices.* Dublin: Irish College of General Practitioners

137. Van Royen P, Boulanger S, Chevalier P, *et al.* 2011. Aanbeveling voor goede medische praktijkvoering: Chronish hartfalen. *Huisarts* Nu 40: S158-86 **138.** Van Royen P, Chevalier P, Dekeulenaar G, et al. 2011. Recommandation de Bonne Pratique: Insuffisance cardiaque. Brussels: Société Scientifique de Médecine Générale (SSMG)

139. McKee G, Kerins M, Hamilton G, et al. 2017. Barriers to ESC guideline implementation: results of a survey from the European Council on Cardiovascular Nursing and Allied Professions (CCNAP). Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 16(8): 678-86

140. Lopez-Sendon J, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Pinto F, *et al.* 2015. Quality Markers in Cardiology. Main Markers to Measure Quality of Results (Outcomes) and Quality Measures Related to Better Results in Clinical Practice (Performance Metrics). INCARDIO (Indicadores de Calidad en Unidades Asistenciales del Area del Corazon): A SEC/SECTCV Consensus Position Paper. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 68(11): 976-95.e10

141. Derthoo D. 2018. Extramuraal zorgpad hartfalen: Zuid- en Midden-West-Vlaanderen. Kortrijk: AZ Groeninge Kortrijk

142. Debonnaire P, Neyrinck A, Depoorter L, et al. 2019. Zorgtraject hartfalen: multidisciplinair extramuraal Noord-West Vlaanderen. Available from: http://www. azzeno.be/downloads/zorgtraject%20hartfalen/HF%20 ZORGTRAJECT%20&%20COVERS%202019_FINAL.pdf [Accessed 04/09/20]

143. Administrative Styregruppe. 2019. Forløbsprogram for rehabilitering af hjertesygdomme. Available from: https://www.regionh.dk/Sundhedsaftale/ Vaerktoejskasse/Documents/2019%20

Hjerteforloebsprogram.pdf [Accessed 21/08/2020] **144.** Hansen VB, Aagaard S, Hygum A, *et al.* 2019. The First Steps Taken to Implement Palliative Care in Advanced Heart Disease: A Position Statement from Denmark. *J Palliat Med*: 10.1089/jpm.2019.0566

145. Sundhedsstyrelsen. 2018. Anbefalinger for tværsektorielle forløb for mennesker med hjertesygdom. Copenhagen: Danish Health Authority
146. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2014. Acute heart failure: diagnosis and management. London: NICE

147. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2018. Resource impact report: chronic heart failure in adults: diagnosis and management (NG106). London: NICE

148. Mattock L. 2016. Heart Failure Service expanded across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. Available from: https://www.leicestercityccg.nhs.uk/news/ccg-news/heart-failure-service-expanded-across-leicester-leicestershire-rutland/ [Accessed 09/09/20]

149. French Society of Cardiology. 2020. Recommendations: Therapeutic education for patients with chronic heart failure. Available from: https://www.sfcardio.fr/publication/education-therapeutique-dupatient-atteint-dinsuffisance-cardiaque-chronique

150. OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. 2017. *France: Country Health Profile 2017, State of Health in the EU.* Brussels: OECD Publishing

151. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), (AWMF). AdW-cMF. 2019. Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Chronische Herzinsuffizienz – Langfassung, 3. Auflage. Berlin: Ärztliches Zentrum für Qualität in der Medizin **152.** Ertl G, Angermann CE, Bekeredjian R, *et al.* 2016. Aufbau und Organisation von Herzinsuffizienz-Netzwerken (HF-NETs) und Herzinsuffizienz-Einheiten ("Heart Failure Units", HFUs) zur Optimierung der Behandlung der akuten und chronischen Herzinsuffizienz. *Der Kardiologe* 10(4): 222-35

153. Tatsi C, Vasilopoulos TK, Lionis C. 2014. Practice guidelines for the management of heart failure in primary health care in Greece: a focus on methodology and approved statements. European Primary Care Cardiovascular Society Annual Summit; 18/09/14; Brussels

154. Caples N. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 02/09/20 **155.** Mortara A, Gabrielli D, Pugliese FR, *et al.* 2019. [ANMCO/FADOI/SIAARTI/SIC/SIMG/SIMI/SIMEU consensus document: The clinical care pathway of acute heart failure patients from symptom onset to discharge from the emergency department]. *G Ital Cardiol (Rome)* 20(5): 289-334

156. Antonione R, Sinagra G, Moroni M, *et al.* 2019. [Palliative care in the cardiac setting: a consensus document of the Italian Society of Cardiology/Italian Society of Palliative Care (SIC/SICP)]. *G Ital Cardiol* (*Rome*) 20(1): 46-61

157. Di Lenarda A, Casolo G, Gulizia MM, *et al.* 2017. The future of telemedicine for the management of heart failure patients: a Consensus Document of the Italian Association of Hospital Cardiologists (A.N.M.C.O), the Italian Society of Cardiology (S.I.C.) and the Italian Society for Telemedicine and eHealth (Digital S.I.T.). *Eur Heart J Suppl* 19(Suppl D): D113-D29

158. Nessler J, Windak A, Oleszczyk M, et al. 2015. Zasady postępowania w niewydolności serca; Wytyczne Kolegium Lekarzy Rodzinnych w Polsce oraz Sekcji Niewydolności Serca Polskiego Towarzystwa Kardiologicznego. Krakow: Medycyna Praktyczna Spółka z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością Spółka Komandytowa

159. Abreu A, Mendes M, Dores H, *et al.* 2018. Mandatory criteria for cardiac rehabilitation programs: 2018 guidelines from the Portuguese Society of Cardiology. *Rev Port Cardiol* 37(5): 363-73

160. Monteiro S, Timóteo AT, Caeiro D, et al. 2020. Cardiac intensive care in Portugal: The time for change. Rev Port Cardiol: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. repce.2020.04.007:

161. Fernández Rodríguez JM, Casado J, Formiga F, et al. 2020. Consenso de actuación básica durante el ingreso hospitalario por insuficiencia cardiaca aguda. Rev Clin Esp: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rce.2020.01.002:

162. García Pinilla JM, Díez-Villanueva P, Bover Freire R, et al. 2020. Consensus document and recommendations on palliative care in heart failure of the Heart Failure and Geriatric Cardiology Working Groups of the Spanish Society of Cardiology. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 73(1): 69-77

163. Barón-Esquivias G, Brotons Cuixart C, Bueno H, et al. 2015. Procesos asistenciales compartidos entre atención primaria y cardiología. Madrid: Sociedad Española de Cardiología and Sociedad Española de Medicina de Familia y Comunitaria **164.** Justel. 2004. Koninklijk besluit houdende vaststelling van de normen waaraan de zorgprogramma's "cardiale pathologie" moeten voldoen om erkend te worden. Available from: http://www.ejustice.just.fgov.be/ cgi_loi/change_lg.pl?language=nl&la=N&table_ name=wet&cn=2004071551 [Accessed 04/09/20]

165. Pouleur A-C. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 11/09/20

166. Bogh SB, Falstie-Jensen AM, Hollnagel E, *et al.* 2016. Improvement in quality of hospital care during accreditation: A nationwide stepped-wedge study. *Int J Qual Health Care* 28(6): 715-20

167. Sociedad Española de Cardiología. SEC-EXCELENTE. Available from: https://secardiologia.es/ institucional/reuniones-institucionales/sec-calidad/ sec-excelente [Accessed 22/07/20]

168. Sociedad Española de Medicina Interna. Programa UMIPIC. Available from: https://www.fesemi.org/ grupos/cardiaca/umipic/programa [Accessed 04/06/20]

169. Savarese G, Vasko P, Jonsson A, *et al.* 2019. The Swedish Heart Failure Registry: a living, ongoing quality assurance and research in heart failure. *Ups J Med Sci* 124(1): 65-69

170. Nakano A, Johnsen SP, Frederiksen BL, *et al.* 2013. Trends in quality of care among patients with incident heart failure in Denmark 2003-2010: a nationwide cohort study. *BMC Health Serv Res* 13: 391

171. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. Spotlight on quality assessment in heart failure care. London: HFPN

172. Schjødt I, Nakano A, Egstrup K, et al. 2016. The Danish Heart Failure Registry. *Clin Epidemiol* 8: 497-502

173. Green A. 2011. Danish clinical databases: An overview. Scand J Public Health 39(7_suppl): 68-71

174. National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research. About Heart Failure. Available from: https:// www.nicor.org.uk/national-cardiac-audit-programme/ about-heart-failure/ [Accessed 22/07/20]

175. NHS England and NHS Improvement. 2019. 2019/20 National tariff payment system - A consultation notice: Annex DtD. Guidance on best practice tariffs. London: NHS

176. Primary Care Strategy and NHS Contracts Group. 2019. 2019/20 General Medical Services (GMS) contract Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF): Guidance for GMS contact 2019/20 in England. London: NHS England

177. France Society of Cardiology. 2014. FRESH - French Observatory For Heart Failure (French Survey On Heart Failure). Available from: https:// sfcardio.fr/recherche/fresh-observatoire-francais-delinsuffisance-cardiaque-french-survey-heart-failure

178. Lequeux B. 2020. Interview with Emmanuelle Plucker at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Telephone]. 04/09/20

179. Feldman SF, Lesuffleur T, Olié V, et al. 2020. Outpatient healthcare utilization 30 days before and after hospitalization for heart failure in France: Contribution of the national healthcare database (Système National des Données de Santé). Arch Cardiovasc Dis 113(6-7): 401-19 **180.** Allgemeine Ortskrankenkasse. Was ist QISA? Available from: https://www.aok-gesundheitspartner. de/bund/qisa/ueber_qisa/index.html [Accessed 01/07/20]

181. Gallagher J. 2014. Tools to identify heart failure patients and help you conduct an audit. [Updated 20/06/14]. Available from: https://www.icgp.ie/go/research/news_events/430FA1B8-F32C-163A-2BCD98A3F38C3144.html [Accessed 28/05/20]

182. Fabbri G, Gorini M, Maggioni AP, et al. 2006. [Italian Network on Congestive Heart Failure: ten-year experience]. *G Ital Cardiol (Rome)* 7(10): 689-94

183. Tavazzi L, Senni M, Metra M, *et al.* 2013. Multicenter prospective observational study on acute and chronic heart failure: one-year follow-up results of IN-HF (Italian Network on Heart Failure) outcome registry. *Circ Heart Fail* 6(3): 473-81

184. Arcopinto M, Salzano A, Ferrara F, et al. 2016. The Tosca Registry: An Ongoing, Observational, Multicenter Registry for Chronic Heart Failure. *Transl Med UniS*a 14: 21-7

185. Maggioni AP, Orso F, Calabria S, *et al.* 2016. The real-world evidence of heart failure: findings from 41 413 patients of the ARNO database. *Eur J Heart Fail* 18(4): 402-10

186. Jankowska EA, Kalicinska E, Drozd M, *et al.* 2014. Comparison of clinical profile and management of outpatients with heart failure with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction treated by general practitioners and cardiologists in contemporary Poland: the results from the DATA-HELP registry. *Int J Cardiol* 176(3): 852-8

187. Sociedade Portuguesa de Cardiologia. 2020. Comunicado do Presidente da SPC. Available from: https://spc.pt/2020/02/03/comunicado-do-presidenteda-spc/

188. Grupo de Insuficiencia Cardíaca y Fibrilación Auricular. Registro Nacioncal de Insuficienca CArdiaca: Información sobre el Registro. Available from: https://www.registrorica.org/info/general/index. php [Accessed 15/06/20]

189. Sociedad Española de Cardiología. Registro IC. Available from: https://secardiologia.es/institucional/ reuniones-institucionales/sec-calidad/sec-excelente/ registro-ic [Accessed 11/08/20]

190. Llorens P, Escoda R, Miró Ò, *et al.* 2015. Characteristics and clinical course of patients with acute heart failure and the therapeutic measures applied in Spanish emergency departments: based on the EAHFE registry (Epidemiology of Acute Heart Failure in Emergency Departments). *Emergencias* 27(1): 11-22

191. Sociedad Española de Medicina Interna. 2019. Registro RECALMIN: La atención al paciente en las unidades de Medicina Interna del Sistema Nacional de Salud. Madrid: SEMI

192. Íñiguez Romo A, Bertomeu Martínez V, Rodríguez Padial L, et al. 2017. The RECALCAR Project. Healthcare in the Cardiology Units of the Spanish National Health System, 2011 to 2014. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 70(7): 567-75

193. Ayesta A, Astiz MTV, Masa MJV, *et al.* 2018. Rationale and design of the FELICITAR registry (Frailty Evaluation After List Inclusion, Characteristics and Influence on Transplantation and Results). *Clin Cardiol* 41(3): 293-99

194. Taylor CJ, Hobbs FDR, Marshall T, *et al.* 2017. From breathless to failure: symptom onset and diagnostic meaning in patients with heart failure—a qualitative study. *BMJ Open* 7(3): e013648

195. Di Somma S. 2020. Interview with Stephanie Whelan and Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 26/08/2020

196. Macari S. 2020. Interview with Sara C Marques and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 27/08/2020

197. Simmonds R, Glogowska M, McLachlan S, et al. 2015. Unplanned admissions and the organisational management of heart failure: a multicentre ethnographic, qualitative study. *BMJ Open* 5(10): e007522

198. Ekman I, Wolf A, Olsson L-E, *et al.* 2012. Effects of person-centred care in patients with chronic heart failure: the PCC-HF study. *Eur Heart J* 33(9): 1112-19

199. Tay K, Clayton L, D'Souza R, *et al.* 2020. P247: Audit of acute heart failure patients discharged within 24 hours: comparison of referral to ambulatory heart failure clinic (AHFC) versus standard care. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(S1): 21

200. Shannon J. 2018. Deficiencies in care for heart patients highlighted. [Updated 27/08/18]. Available from: https://irishheart.ie/news/submission-highlights-deficiencies-in-care-for-heart-patients/ [Accessed 14/05/20]

201. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. Pressure point 2: Patient empowerment and self-care. London: HFPN

202. Cohen-Solal A, Saadi M. 2017. Check-list de sortie d'hospitalisation d'un insuffisant cardiaque. *Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss Pratique* 2017(259): 14-17

203. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. *Pressure* point 4: Patient empowerment and self-care. London: HFPN

204. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. Pressure point 3: Clinical management. London: HFPN

205. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2018. *Pressure* point 5: Advance care planning. London: HFPN

206. Taylor RS, Sagar VA, Davies EJ, *et al.* 2014. Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*: 10.1002/14651858. CD003331.pub4 (4): Cd003331

207. Long L, Mordi IR, Bridges C, *et al.* 2019. Exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev:* 10.1002/14651858. CD003331.pub5 (1):

208. Jaarsma T, Beattie JM, Ryder M, *et al.* 2009. Palliative care in heart failure: a position statement from the palliative care workshop of the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology. *Eur J Heart Fail* 11(5): 433-43 **209.** The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2019. Understanding heart failure guidelines: Comorbidities. London: HFPN

210. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. Spotlight on iron deficiency in heart failure. London: HFPN

211. Marsden P, Gallagher J, Ledwidge M, et al. 2014. A picture of general practice research in Ireland 2012-2013: Through research and audit activity - General practitioners' perception of heart failure services in Ireland highlights ready access to diagnostics and opinion as major deficiency. Dublin: Irish College of General Practitioners

212. Moran D, Buckley A, Daly K, *et al.* 2014. Heart rate awareness in patients with chronic stable heart failure. A multi-center observational study. *Int J Cardiol* 177(2): 380-84

213. Mirra M, Vitulano G, Virtuoso N, *et al.* 2014. Heart Failure in a Dedicated Outpatient Clinic: Results after 58 Month Follow-Up. Can it be Enough? *Transl Med UniSa* 11: 59-62

214. Piepoli MF, Binno S, Coats AJS, *et al.* 2019. Regional differences in exercise training implementation in heart failure: findings from the Exercise Training in Heart Failure (ExTraHF) survey. *Eur J Heart Fail* 21(9): 1142-48

215. Dalal HM, Taylor RS, Jolly K, *et al.* 2019. The effects and costs of home-based rehabilitation for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: The REACH-HF multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 26(3): 262-72

216. Piotrowicz E, Piepoli MF, Jaarsma T, *et al.* 2016. Telerehabilitation in heart failure patients: The evidence and the pitfalls. *Int J Cardiol* 220: 408-13

217. San Saturnino M. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for the Heart Failure Policy Network) [Videoconference]. 14/07/20

218. Spatharakis G. 2011. Palliative care for heart failure in Greece. *Eur Geriatr Med* 2(1): 44-45

219. Gavazzi A, De Maria R, Manzoli L, *et al.* 2015. Palliative needs for heart failure or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Results of a multicenter observational registry. *Int J Cardiol* 184: 552-58

220. The Heart Failure Policy Network. 2019. Understanding heart failure guidelines: The multidisciplinary team. London: HFPN

221. Sánchez MA, Rodríguez JLL, Freire RB, *et al.* 2016. Classification and quality standards of heart failure units: scientific consensus of the Spanish Society of Cardiology. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 69(10): 940-50

222. Stavrianopoulos T. 2016. Impact of a nurses-led telephone intervention program on the quality of life in patients with heart failure in a district hospital in Greece. *Health Science Journal* 10(4): 1

223. Cichosz SL, Ehlers LH, Hejlesen O. 2016. Health effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of telehealthcare for heart failure: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 17(1): 590

224. Health Service Executive. 2018. Heart failure: Programme progress. Available from: https://www. hse.ie/eng/about/who/cspd/ncps/heart-failure/ achievements/ [Accessed 15/05/20] **225.** Deep Medicine. About us. Available from: http:// www.deepmedicine.co.uk/#aboutus [Accessed 02/10/20]

226. Frederix I, Vanderlinden L, Verboven A-S, *et al.* 2019. Long-term impact of a six-month telemedical care programme on mortality, heart failure readmissions and healthcare costs in patients with

chronic heart failure. J Telemed Telecare 25(5): 286-93 227. Jourdain P, Desnos M, Juillière Y. 2014. Mise en place d'une Plateforme Interactive Médecin Patients Santé (PIMPS) basée sur une auto mesure à domicile d'un biomarqueur dans l'insuffisance cardiaque chronique ambulatoire. European Research in Telemedicine / La Recherche Européenne en Télémédecine 3(1): 43

228. E-care. Présentation. Available from: http://www. projet-e-care.fr/presentation/ [Accessed 17/09/20]

229. Köhler F, Koehler K, Deckwart O, *et al.* 2018. Efficacy of telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure (TIM-HF2): a randomised, controlled, parallel-group, unmasked trial. *The Lancet* 392(10152): 1047-57

230. Giordano A, Scalvini S, Zanelli E, *et al.* 2009. Multicenter randomised trial on home-based telemanagement to prevent hospital readmission of patients with chronic heart failure. *Int J Cardiol* 131(2): 192-99

231. Pinna GD, Maestri R, Andrews D, *et al.* 2007. Home telemonitoring of vital signs and cardiorespiratory signals in heart failure patients: system architecture and feasibility of the HHH model. *Int J Cardiol* 120(3): 371-9

232. Orozco-Beltran D, Sánchez-Molla M, Sanchez JJ, *et al.* 2017. Telemedicine in Primary Care for Patients With Chronic Conditions: The ValCrònic Quasi-Experimental Study. *J Med Internet Res* 19(12): e400

233. Martín-Lesende I, Orruño E, Bilbao A, *et al.* 2013. Impact of telemonitoring home care patients with heart failure or chronic lung disease from primary care on healthcare resource use (the TELBIL study randomised controlled trial). *BMC Health Serv Res* 13: 118

234. Seferović PM, Piepoli MF, Lopatin Y, *et al.* 2020. Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology Quality of Care Centres Programme: design and accreditation document. *Eur J Heart Fail* 22(5): 763-74

235. Castro-Beiras A, Anguita-Sanchez M, Comín-Colet J, *et al.* 2015. Organization of Heart Failure Care in Spain: Characteristics of Heart Failure Units. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 68(7): 633-5

236. Andrès E, Talha S, Benyahia A, *et al.* 2016. Expérimentation d'une plateforme de détection automatisée des situations à risque de décompensation cardiaque (plateforme E-care) dans une unité de médecine interne. *Rev Med Interne* 37(9): 587-93

237. Köhler F, Prescher S, Köhler K. 2019. Telemedizin bei Herzinsuffizienz. *Internist (Berl)* 60(4): 331-38



To find out more about the Heart Failure Policy Network and this work, go to **www.hfpolicynetwork.org**

If you have any comments or questions, please get in touch with the authors at **info@hfpolicynetwork.org**

© 2020 The Health Policy Partnership Ltd. This report may be used for personal, research or educational use only, and may not be used for commercial purposes. Any adaptation or modification of the content of this report is prohibited, unless permission has been granted by The Health Policy Partnership.